Appeal No. 23-CF-859



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court
Received 08/19/2024 01:07 PM
Filed 08/19/2024 01:07 PM

DAVON C. JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia
Criminal Division

REDACTED BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

SAMIA FAM

JACLYN S. FRANKFURT

*SARAH MCDONALD

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE
633 3rd Street, NW
Washington, DC 20001
Telephone: (202) 628-1200

*Counsel for Oral Argument

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ISSUES PRESENTED

Whether there was probable cause to arrest Davon Johnson for firearm possession because he, along with four other men, was about to get into a parked car near a firearm in the seatback pocket, where there was no evidence to suggest that Mr. Johnson had been in the car previously, no reason to think that Mr. Johnson saw the firearm as he approached the car, no indication of a joint criminal enterprise, and nothing but Mr. Johnson's apparent intent to enter the car connecting him to the car or the guns found in it.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

Davon Johnson was charged by indictment with unlawful possession with intent to distribute a controlled substance (fentanyl), in violation of 48 D.C. Code § 904.01(a)(1). R. 170 (PDF) (Indictment p. 1).¹ On May 25, 2023, Mr. Johnson moved to suppress the tangible evidence obtained following his seizure. R. 84 (PDF) (Motion p. 1). The government filed an opposition to the motion on June 5, 2023, R. 96 (PDF) (Opp. p. 1), and Mr. Johnson filed a reply on June 7, 2023, R. 110 (PDF) (Reply p. 1). On June 9, 2023, the Honorable Andrea L. Hertzfeld held an evidentiary hearing and orally denied the motion. 6/9/23 at 83-87, 92-94.

After a three-day trial, a jury found Mr. Johnson guilty of the lesser-included offense of unlawful possession of a controlled substance. R. 554 (PDF) (Verdict p. 1). On September 29, 2023, Judge Hertzfeld sentenced Mr. Johnson to 180 days' incarceration. R. 557 (PDF) (Order p. 1); R. 558 (PDF) (Amended Order p.1). Mr. Johnson filed a timely notice of appeal on October 12, 2023. R. 559 (PDF) (Notice of Appeal p. 1).

This Court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

¹ Citations to "R. *" refer to the electronic page number of the record on appeal amassed by the Appeals Coordinator. Citations to "**/**/** at *" designate a particular month, day, year, and page from the trial transcripts.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Introduction

This case arises from the warrantless arrest and incident search of Davon Johnson on April 10, 2023. Mr. Johnson was tried and convicted for possessing fentanyl pills that were found on him after he was placed under arrest and sitting in a Secret Service patrol car. He was in that patrol car on suspicion of possessing a firearm that had been found in a car that he was not in, but that he was about to enter as a back-seat passenger. He was never charged with possession of a firearm.

Around 1:40 a.m., Mr. Johnson and four other Black men walked toward an SUV parked on a downtown street. Uniformed Secret Service officers were surrounding the SUV, waiting for someone to enter it, because one of the officers had seen what he believed to be a gun in the seatback pocket. The officers handcuffed Mr. Johnson and the others as soon as they went to get into the car, despite having no information about where the men were coming from and no reason to think Mr. Johnson had been in the car before. A search of the car gave no further reason to connect Mr. Johnson to the car or its contents; the *sole* reason officers had for Mr. Johnson's arrest was the fact that he was one of five men getting into a car in which three guns were found, and none of the men claimed the guns. The trial court erred in denying Mr. Johnson's motion to suppress the pills forming the basis of his drug charge as the fruit of an illegal arrest.

Evidence at the Suppression Hearing

At the suppression hearing, the government called Antonio Capasso, an officer in the Foreign Missions Branch of the U.S. Secret Service, as its only witness.

6/9/23 at 5. Officer Capasso testified that in the early morning hours of April 10, 2023, he responded to a call that another Secret Service officer, Jordan Whitehair, had seen a “firearm in plain view in a vehicle” parked at 1050 17th Street NW. *Id.* at 5-6.

According to Officer Capasso’s testimony, Officer Whitehair and Lieutenant Adam Quest were on routine foot patrol when Officer Whitehair noticed the vehicle, a Dodge Journey SUV. 6/9/23 at 40-41. It was around 1:10 a.m. when Officer Whitehair noticed the vehicle. *Id.* The government introduced no evidence indicating why the vehicle caught Officer Whitehair’s attention. No one was in the SUV. *Id.* at 42. The officers had not seen anyone get out of the SUV. *Id.* at 48-49. There was no evidence that the SUV had expired tags or was illegally parked. *See id.* at 42. Nor was there any evidence that, upon first seeing the SUV, the officers had any reason to connect it to any person or any criminal activity.

Looking into the SUV from the outside, Officer Whitehair saw what he believed to be a gun in the “map pocket”—the pocket on the back of the driver’s seat. 6/9/23 at 6-7, 14-15. There was no testimony about how close Officer Whitehair was to the SUV when he spotted the firearm, and no testimony about the lighting conditions by the SUV, including whether Officer Whitehair used a flashlight to look inside. The government introduced three photographs of the map pocket into evidence at the suppression hearing, all of which were taken later after crime scene technicians arrived at the scene. *Id.* at 14-16, 54-55. Two of these photographs—reproduced below—depicted, as Officer Capasso described them, “the imprint of a

magazine” in the pocket. *Id.* at 15, 57; App’x B (top; Gov’t Exh. 2A); App’x C (bottom; Gov’t Exh. 2B).



A third photograph, also reproduced below, showed a crime scene technician pulling the pocket open at the top to show the gun down in the pocket. App’x D (Gov’t Exh. 2C).



Officer Capasso testified that, at the prosecutor’s request, he spoke to Officer Whitehair about these crime scene photographs three days before the suppression hearing—the day after the government filed its opposition to the defense motion to suppress, in which it argued that the firearm was in “plain view” when Officer Whitehair observed it. 6/9/23 at 25-26, 52-53; R. 96-100 (PDF) (Opp. pp. 1-5). The two officers discussed the close-up photograph of the imprint in the map pocket, App’x C, and, according to Officer Capasso, Officer Whitehair “told [Officer Capasso] that he saw the sights of the firearm and the grip of the firearm through the slit of th[e] map pocket” when he looked into the car. 6/9/23 at 14-15. Officer Capasso understood this to mean that the pocket was open a bit at the top, so Officer

Whitehair could see down into the pocket through the slit from the outside of the car. *Id.* at 6-7, 14-15, 57.

Although the crime scene technicians took over 400 photographs of the scene, 6/9/23 at 55, Officer Capasso acknowledged that none of the photographs the government introduced at the suppression hearing showed the top of the firearm visible through the slit, *id.* at 15, 52-53, 56-57—except for the photograph depicting the pocket being held open by a crime scene technician, App’x D. In fact, Officer Capasso had made a note to himself to ask Officer Whitehair “about the plain-view photo” because he could see only an imprint, not the top of the gun, in the pictures. 6/9/23 at 52-53. Officer Capasso also acknowledged that there was no mention of anyone seeing the top of the gun through the slit in the pocket in any of the police paperwork, including the 20-page arrest report. *Id.* at 53. It was a fact that Officer Whitehair conveyed to Officer Capasso just three days before the suppression hearing, only after Officer Capasso initiated the conversation (on the prosecutor’s suggestion) in preparation for his testimony, and only after the government had repeatedly asserted that the weapon was in plain view in opposing the motion to suppress. *Id.* at 25, 53; R. 96-100 (PDF) (Opp. pp. 1-5). When he told Officer Capasso for the first time about seeing the top of the gun, Officer Whitehair was not, to Officer Capasso’s knowledge, referencing any notes he had taken around the time of the arrest. 6/9/23 at 53. The government did not call Officer Whitehair as a witness at the suppression hearing.

Officer Capasso testified that after Officer Whitehair saw what he believed to be a firearm, he requested a Washington Area Law Enforcement System (WALEs)

check on the SUV and learned that it was registered to a Mia Smith. 6/9/23 at 46. Officer Whitehair also radioed for additional officers. *Id.* at 6. Officer Capasso was one of multiple Secret Service officers who joined Officer Whitehair and Lieutenant Quest in response to the radio call. *Id.* at 6-7, 43-44. The officers then waited around the SUV to see if anyone would approach the vehicle. *Id.* at 7, 46.

Half an hour later, five Black men, one of whom was Mr. Johnson, walked toward the SUV.² 6/9/23 at 8. They were “walking very close to each other and the same speed, and they all approached the vehicle at the same time.” *Id.* As they approached the SUV, two of the men went toward one side of the car and the others went to the other side. *Id.* It looked to the officers like the men “were going to enter the vehicle,” and the car’s lights blinked to show that it was being unlocked. *Id.* at 9-10. Officer Capasso testified that Officer Whitehair saw Mr. Johnson open the back door on the driver’s side, though Officer Capasso himself was on the other side of the SUV and could not see Mr. Johnson. *Id.* at 11. There was no evidence about whether anyone else was preparing to enter the door Mr. Johnson allegedly opened, even though two people would have had to go in one of the doors given that there were five men and the car had four doors. *See id.* at 8-11.³

The uniformed Secret Service officers were “surrounding the SUV” from “a bunch of different angles” as Mr. Johnson and the others approached the vehicle.

² There was no evidence that the officers recognized or had any previous information about any of the men.

³ When Officer Capasso testified that three men were approaching one side and two were approaching the other, he did not specify which side was which. 6/9/23 at 8.

6/9/23 at 43-44. When the men “got within arm’s reach of the vehicle,” the officers told them to stop and show their hands, which they all did. *Id.* at 10, 43-44. Mr. Johnson and the others were immediately handcuffed. *Id.* at 44. None of them tried to “flee or evade the police in any way.” *Id.*

All five men were patted down after being handcuffed. 6/9/23 at 11-12. Officers found a key to the car on one of them, Keith Smith—who shared a last name with Mia Smith, the car’s registered owner. *Id.* at 10, 47. The officers kept Mr. Johnson and the others handcuffed on the sidewalk as the crime scene technicians “performed a probable cause search of the vehicle” and took over 400 photographs. *Id.* at 12, 55-56. This process took “a long time.” *Id.* at 55. During their search, the crime scene technicians recovered a gun from the map pocket, another gun from the closed glove box, and a third from the third-row seat, where the back of the seat had been completely folded down over the gun. *Id.* at 12, 19, 34; App’x E; App’x F. No drugs, money, or other contraband or indicia of criminality was found in the car, and nothing connected to Mr. Johnson was found in the car. 6/9/23 at 55-56.

After the crime scene technicians found the three firearms, the officers conducted a check to see if any of the men had licenses to carry firearms in the District. 6/9/23 at 20. None of them did, and none of the guns were registered to any of them. *Id.* According to Officer Capasso’s testimony, an officer then asked the men “who the guns belonged to.” *Id.* at 21, 27-28. Like the point about Officer Whitehair seeing the top of the gun through the map-pocket slit, however, Officer Capasso acknowledged that there had been no previous mention—not in his notes, or the 20-page police report—that any questioning about who owned the guns occurred on the

scene. *Id.* at 29-33. In any event, no one identified Mr. Johnson as the owner. *Id.* at 21, 27-28, 37-38. None of the men made *any* statements in response to the officers' alleged questioning about the guns. *See id.* at 21, 35-38.

All five men were then placed under formal arrest, and Mr. Johnson was put in the back of a police cruiser. 6/9/23 at 21. At this time, the only thing the officers had connecting Mr. Johnson to the SUV or the guns found in it was the fact that he was part of the group approaching the car. *Id.* at 51-52, 54. The guns in the car were the only basis for Mr. Johnson's arrest—a WALES check had turned up no outstanding warrants, and the pat-down had turned up no contraband. *Id.* at 54.

When Mr. Johnson was in the back of the police cruiser, however, Officer Whitehair saw him make a "quick movement," which caught the officer's attention and led the Secret Service to find fentanyl pills in Mr. Johnson's pants and on the floor of the police cruiser. 6/9/23 at 21-23. Mr. Johnson was charged with possession of those drugs, but not with any gun offenses.

Legal Arguments on the Legality of the Seizure Under the Fourth Amendment

The defense moved for suppression of the drugs found on Mr. Johnson as the fruit of an unlawful seizure. R. 84-89 (PDF) (Motion pp. 1-6). The defense first argued that the government had not met the elements of the "plain view" doctrine despite its repeated invocation of "plain view." R. 110 (PDF) (Reply p. 1); 6/9/23 at 63. Next, the defense argued that even if the court were to assume that officers saw a firearm in plain view, the police still lacked probable cause for Mr. Johnson's arrest because the only connection between Mr. Johnson and the guns was "mere proximity." 6/9/23 at 64; R. 110-13 (PDF) (Reply pp. 1-4). Defense counsel relied

on *In re T.H.*, 898 A.2d 908 (D.C. 2006), noting that in that case there was not probable cause for the seizure of passengers who were *inside of a car* containing contraband. 6/9/23 at 65-66, 75-76. Defense counsel argued that this fact—that Mr. Johnson was not in the car—was a significant one, and a basis on which to distinguish *Maryland v. Pringle*, 540 U.S. 366 (2003). 6/9/23 at 72-73.

Defense counsel emphasized that there was no evidence that Mr. Johnson had ever been in the SUV—no one had seen him in the car, no statements by any person connected him to the car, and nothing found in the SUV connected him to the car. 6/9/23 at 68. With no evidence that police knew “how long . . . the car had been parked” there, no evidence that police “knew where these individuals were coming from,” and no evidence that police had seen anyone get out of the car earlier, the mere fact that Mr. Johnson and the others were approaching the SUV was “capable of too many innocent explanations” to establish probable cause. *Id.* at 72-73. For example, defense counsel pointed out, Mr. Johnson might have been “getting a ride home because Uber was too expensive that night.” *Id.* at 73.

In response, the government argued that Mr. Johnson and the other men were “as good as in the car” when they were seized. 6/9/23 at 69, 80. The government contended that after the officers found three firearms “spaced out” in the vehicle, it was clear that someone sitting in any part of the car would have had access to a firearm. *Id.* at 69-70. And because “[t]he second you get in that car you can certainly see the firearm in the map pocket,” it was reasonable for the officers to believe that “all of the men were possessing and knowledgeable about the firearms.” *Id.* at 70-71. The government acknowledged that the men had not in fact gotten into the car,

but asserted that “they should have been able to see [the gun] from outside the car even if they weren’t in it yet” because the gun was “in plain view.” *Id.* at 80.

As to *T.H.*, the government argued that the facts here were distinguishable because in *T.H.* the contraband was not “inherently criminal on [its] face.” 6/9/23 at 79. Here officers “s[aw] a firearm,” which was “much different than fireworks” because it was “inherently illegal on its face, especially after a check has been run and none of the people there have a license to carry a firearm, the firearm is not registered anywhere.” *Id.* Further, the government argued, no one in the group here had spoken up when officers asked who owned the weapons, suggesting a “conspiracy angle where it seems all of these people are sort of working together and have communal knowledge of what’s in the car.” *Id.* at 79-80.

Ruling on the Fourth Amendment

The trial court concluded that the officers had probable cause to believe that Mr. Johnson “possessed the firearm” found in the driver’s side map pocket. 6/9/23 at 87. The trial court did not base its ruling on any finding that all of the men who were about to enter the SUV could reasonably be thought to jointly possess the three firearms in the car. Instead, the trial court focused on Mr. Johnson’s proximity to the firearm in the map pocket. *See id.* at 86-87; *see also id.* at 92 (“I think the critical fact is that . . . Mr. Johnson had opened the door and was about to get into the vehicle in the very seat where the officers had just observed an extended magazine pistol in the map pocket.”).

The trial court credited Officer Capasso’s testimony that Officer Whitehair had been able to see the top of the firearm in the map pocket. 6/9/23 at 86. The trial

court acknowledged that the top of the firearm was not visible in the photographs, but concluded that the fact that Officer Whitehair had radioed for additional officers supported a finding that “he had actually seen what he believed to be a firearm.” *Id.* From Officer Capasso’s testimony about Officer Whitehair seeing the gun, the trial court drew the conclusion “that it was obvious to just a passerby of this car that there was a firearm in the back map pocket.” *Id.* The court found it “of significant note that that was the exact seat [Mr. Johnson] was entering into.” *Id.* The court also credited Officer Capasso’s testimony that the “officers asked the five men who the guns belonged to” and none of the men claimed ownership. *Id.* at 85.⁴

The trial court agreed with the government that the facts here were “more akin to *Pringle*” than to *T.H.* 6/9/23 at 87. The trial court observed in this respect that “there was a disclaimer of the obvious contraband in *Pringle* as opposed to [*T.H.*] where it was less obvious contraband, and there was someone identified as the actual owner.” *Id.* In the trial court’s view, *T.H.* thus rested on different facts than *Pringle* “in terms of knowledge and intent to exercise dominion and control.” *Id.* But the trial court made no specific findings about Mr. Johnson’s knowledge of any firearm except to say that the map-pocket firearm had been perceptible to Officer Whitehair and that Mr. Johnson was going to enter the car near that firearm.

⁴ The trial court’s statement that “all five disclaimed ownership for the[] [guns]” cannot be understood as a finding that the men made any statements affirmatively disavowing ownership. 6/9/23 at 85. There was no such testimony (the only evidence being that none of the men took credit for the guns), and Officer Capasso specifically testified that Mr. Johnson made no statements. *Id.* at 21, 37-38.

Trial Evidence and Verdict

At trial, there was no real dispute that over 400 fentanyl pills were recovered from Mr. Johnson after his arrest. Officer Whitehair testified that after Mr. Johnson had been sitting in the back of the squad car for about ten minutes, the officer opened the car door and saw Mr. Johnson make “a quick movement to his left.” 9/27/23 at 126. Officer Whitehair took Mr. Johnson, whose seatbelt was off and whose pants had been pulled partway down, out of the car because he thought Mr. Johnson had gotten out of his handcuffs. *Id.* at 126, 129-30. Officer Whitehair then noticed four small blue pills in the seat where Mr. Johnson had been sitting. *Id.* at 130. Officers found more blue pills inside the leggings Mr. Johnson was wearing under his jeans, some in a plastic baggie and some loose inside the leggings. *Id.* at 132, 159. Some of the pills were whole, but the officers also “found a lot of . . . broken up pieces.” 9/28/23 at 25. In total, officers counted around 417 pills, though this total counted each broken pill fragment as one pill. *Id.* at 29, 36.

The trial focused on whether the government could show that Mr. Johnson had the intent to distribute those pills. The government’s case for intent to distribute turned almost entirely on the number of pills.⁵ The government presented testimony from Metropolitan Police Department officer Scott Brown, who was qualified as an expert in the appearance, use, and sale of narcotics in the District of Columbia. 9/28/23 at 69. Officer Brown testified that possession of over 400 fentanyl pills

⁵ The government’s expert also testified that storing drugs in a “sandwich bag” was indicative of distribution; users would normally store pills in a pocket for “[e]asy access.” 9/28/23 at 76-78.

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