#### BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

# ISTRICT OF COLUMBI

#### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CF-859

Clerk of the Court Received 10/21/2024 01:42 PM Filed 10/21/2024 01:42 PM

DAVON C. JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN SARAH E. ROESSLER MARK LEVY

- \* DAVID B. GOODHAND D.C. Bar #438844 Assistant United States Attorneys
- \* Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 David.Goodhand2@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2023-CF2-2165

#

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "No one else tried to enter the [SUV]" in the 30-minute interim (6/9/23:60).

one of the men (Keith Smith) (*id.* at 10).<sup>3</sup> "Two of the individuals approached the vehicle on one side of the vehicle, and the other individuals approached on the other side of the vehicle like they were about to enter the vehicle" (*id.* at 8). Though Officer Capasso himself could not see Johnson because Capasso was "positioned" on the SUV's passenger side, Officer Whitehair later reported to Capasso that Johnson "open[ed] up the car door where the weapon was" (i.e., the rear driver's side door) (*id.* at 11).

Because Johnson and the other four men were about to get into an SUV that the officers knew contained at least one gun, they "stopped the men" before they could enter the SUV (6/9/23:10-11). The officers handcuffed and detained the men on the sidewalk (*id.* at 11-12). Officer Whitehair then radioed for crime-scene officers "to retrieve the firearm" (*id.* at 12).

The crime-scene officers "performed a probable cause search" of the SUV and found two guns in addition to the map-pocket firearm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Police later recovered the SUV's key fob on Mr. Smith and a subsequent computer check revealed that the SUV was registered to a Mia Smith (6/9/23:10, 46-47).

(6/9/23:12). The officers found one of these additional guns in the SUV's closed glove compartment (*id.*). Like the map-pocket gun, this one had a serial number (*id.* at 16, 18; Exhs. 3A-D (photos of second gun)). The officers found another gun beneath a third-row seat that had been "pushed all the way down" (6/9/23:12-13, 19; Exhs. 4A-D (photos of third gun)). This third gun was a "ghost gun," meaning it did not have a serial number and had been "personally manufactured" (6/9/23:19-20). When the officers asked the men who the guns belonged to, no one "took credit" for them (*id.* at 21). The officers then placed the men – including Johnson –under arrest "for the firearms" (*id.* at 21, 54).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> After the crime-scene officers found the three guns, a firearm check revealed that none of the five men had a license to carry a firearm in the District of Columbia (6/9/23:20). Additionally, none of the men had a registration for the two guns with serial numbers (*id.*; see also *id.* at 79 (government closing argument: "At the time that the five people are being arrested for [firearms offense], that's information that the officers are well aware of."); *id.* at 80 (government closing: "all of this evidence of carrying a pistol without a license came to light while the officers were on the scene")).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> When the officers placed Johnson in a patrol car, he unsuccessfully attempted to discard the fentanyl pills he possessed (6/9/23:21-22). Ultimately, via a "more thorough" search, officers discovered 417 fentanyl pills on and around Johnson (*id.* at 22; Exhs. 5A-H (photos of pills)). Johnson's subsequent jury trial focused only on law enforcement's post-arrest discovery of his fentanyl pills (see, e.g., 4/27/23:124-40 (Officer Whitehair testimony); *id.* at 146-60 (Officer Capasso testimony)).

#### The parties' arguments and the court's ruling

Johnson argued there was "no probable cause for [his] arrest" (6/9/23:63). He asserted the government had failed to show his knowledge of the guns, contending the "[c]ourt saw from the Government's own evidence that these are not firearms that are exposed to the public if one was to walk past th[e] SUV" (id. at 67-68). And, even if the court concluded that that map-pocket gun was plainly visible, the government had only shown his proximity to it and "mere proximity is not enough for probable cause to arrest" (id. at 68-69).

Relying on Exhibit 2B ("the [c]ourt saw the photo"), the prosecutor countered that the map-pocket gun was in "plain view" and "any passenger in that car would certainly be able to see that firearm" (6/9/23:71). Further, the prosecutor explained, this case was like *Maryland v. Pringle*, 540 U.S. 366 (2003): "[D]ue to where the three firearms were located, no matter which row of the vehicle [Johnson] intended to sit in (front passenger seat, second row, or third row), there would have been a firearm he would easily have been able to access" (R.100 (PDF) (Opposition p.5); see also 6/9/23:70).

Pringle, Johnson responded, did "not get the Government where they need to be for probable cause" (6/9/23:71). Pringle, he maintained, was "distinguishable" because, "upon pulling the vehicle over," the police "observe[d] three occupants in the vehicle," which is a "much different situation from a group of people getting close to an SUV[,] within arm's reach" (id. at 71-72; see also id. at 72 (fact that Pringle "occupants [we]re in the car at the moment the stop occur[red]" is "significant").

Crediting Officer Capasso's testimony and considering the photos, the trial court denied Johnson's suppression motion (6/9/23:83-87). Though the court opined that the officers "probably" did not have proof beyond a reasonable doubt, "the standard at this stage is probable cause," which the officers had (*id.* at 87). Officer Whitehair "observed in plain view" a gun in the map pocket (*id.* at 84). As the court explained, in addition to the fact that Officer Whitehair told Officer Capasso that he had seen the gun's sights and grip "through the slit in the map pocket," one "can see from the pictures the imprint" of the gun on the map-pocket's soft surface (*id.* at 84, 86; see also *id.* at 84 (court: "the imprint of the gun

was visible on the . . . surface of the map pocket")).6 "That says to the Court that it was obvious to just a passerby of this car that there was a firearm in the back map pocket, and I think it's of significant note that that was the exact seat [Johnson] was entering into when he got into the car" (*id.* at 86). Accordingly, Judge Hertzfeld concluded, "this is a situation more akin to *Pringle* and so I do find that a prudent officer would have sufficient knowledge to warrant a reasonable belief that [Johnson] possessed the firearm" (*id.* at 87).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Secret Service officers had reasonable grounds to believe that the five men (including Johnson) entering the parked SUV were engaged in a common – illegal – enterprise. At the time the officers arrested the men, they knew the SUV contained three unregistered guns – including one with an extended magazine and a ghost gun – distributed throughout the passenger compartment. At least one illegal gun was thus accessible

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As the court additionally noted, Officer Whitehair's plain-view sighting was corroborated by the fact that he "radioed for the additional officers to come in, because he had actually seen what he believed to be a firearm" (6/9/23:86).

to the persons sitting in each of the SUV's three rows. Further, the officers knew that Johnson in particular had been about to sit on the driver's side of the middle row, where – the crime-scene photos showed – the map pocket plainly revealed the imprint of an extended-magazine pistol. Finally, when questioned, none of the men identified the guns' owners. On these facts, the officers could reasonably conclude that the driver would have been "unlikely to admit an innocent person [to the SUV] with the potential to furnish evidence against him." *Pringle*, 540 U.S. at 373. The officers thus properly arrested all five men based on the reasonable inference of a common enterprise to possess illegal handguns.

#### ARGUMENT

## Probable Cause Supported Johnson's Arrest.

Johnson claims (at 17-36) the "government failed to prove that there was probable cause that [he] possessed a gun." He is mistaken.

# A. Governing Legal Principles and Standard of Review

"Probable cause . . . is not a high bar: It requires only the kind of fair probability on which reasonable and prudent [people,] not legal technicians act." *Kaley v. United States*, 571 U.S. 320, 338 (2014) (cleaned

up). As the trial court correctly recognized (see 6/9/23:87), "the substance of all the definitions of probable cause is a reasonable ground for belief of guilt, and that the belief of guilt must be particularized with respect to the person to searched or seized." *Pringle*, 540 U.S. at 371 (cleaned up). Probable cause "does not require officers to establish the elements of the offense with a level of certainty as though trial-level proof must exist at the side of the road." *United States v. Brooks*, 982 F.3d 1177, 1180 (8th Cir. 2020).

"Whether the police had probable cause on a given set of historical facts is a question of law subject to *de novo* review on appeal." *Perkins v. United States*, 936 A.2d 303, 305 (D.C. 2007). "Of course, the facts and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed on appeal in favor of sustaining the trial court's ruling, and findings of historical fact may not be disturbed unless the appellate court determines them to be clearly erroneous." *Id.* at 305 n.1.

- B. Following the Officers' Lawful Search of the SUV and Their Discovery of Three Illegal Guns Distributed Throughout the Passenger Compartment, the Officers Had Probable Cause To Arrest Johnson.
  - 1. The plain-view sighting of the mappocket gun justified the subsequent SUV search.

As the government explained below – and Johnson does not now contest -if the map-pocket gun was in plain view, the Secret Service officers "had probable cause to search the rest of the vehicle for other weapons" (R.99 (Opposition p.4)). See, e.g., Zanders v. United States, 75 A.3d 244, 248 (D.C. 2013); Beachum v. United States, 19 A.3d 311, 319 (D.C. 2011); Tucker v. United States, 421 A.2d 32, 35 (D.C. 1980). Instead of challenging the legal basis for the officers' search, Johnson claims (at 20-24) the trial court's "finding that the top of the weapon was visible was clearly erroneous." But the court's plain-view finding did not depend solely on Officer Whitehair's sighting of the "top of the weapon." And, even if it did, the court did not plainly err in crediting Officer Capasso's testimony about Officer Whitehair's out-of-court description of his sighting.

Officer Whitehair told Officer Capasso that, while on foot patrol, "he saw a firearm in the vehicle in the back map pocket. And he said he could see in clear view through the slit of the map pocket of the [sic] firearms sights and grip." (6/9/23:6.) Based on this sighting, Officer Whitehair radioed for backup, explaining that he had "found a firearm in plain view in a vehicle" (id.). At the suppression hearing, Officer Capasso confirmed that the map-pocket gun was plainly visible, twice explaining that the map-pocket photograph (Exhibit 2B) showed "the butt of a magazine pressed up [on] the map [pocket] -- and it's an L-shape firearm" (6/9/23:59). And, in concluding that that gun was plainly visible, the court agreed, finding that "you can see from the pictures the imprint" (id. at 86; see also id. at 84 (court: "the imprint of the gun was visible on the -- I'll say the surface of the map pocket")). Thus, while the trial court also "credit[ed] [Officer Capasso's] testimony that Officer Whitehair saw" the "top of the firearm" through the map-pocket's slit (id. at 86), the court's plain-view finding did not depend on that testimony. Rather, the court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Q: And just looking at this photo [Exh. 2B] now, what do you see in the picture?

A: I see the magazine imprinted on the map pocket. (6/9/23:15.)

explained, either Officer Capasso's first-hand description of the gun's imprint or his description of Officer Whitehair's sighting supported such a finding: "According to the testimony, the sights and the grip were visible through the slit in the map pocket, *and* the imprint of the gun was visible on the . . . surface of the map pocket" (*id.* at 84 (emphasis added)).8

In any event, contrary to Johnson's claim (at 23), the court's "finding that the top of the firearm was visible" does not "lack[] evidentiary support." The court properly credited Officer Capasso's testimony that he had recently spoken with Officer Whitehair, who said "he could see in clear view through the slit of the map pocket of the [sic] firearm's sights and grip" (6/9/23:6; see *id.* at 86). "[R]eliable hearsay" is admissible at a suppression hearing, *Mitchell v. United States*, 368 A.2d 514, 518 (D.C. 1977), and, the court correctly reasoned, Officer Whitehair's statement qualified as such because "it stands to reason"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Johnson does not now challenge either the trial court's finding that "the imprint of the gun was visible" on the map-pocket's "surface" or Officer Capasso's testimony that the crime-scene photograph captured "an L-shape firearm" (6/9/23:59, 84). And, in the trial court, Johnson only asked Judge Hertzfeld "to ignore" the "information about the impressions" "because that's something that's after the fact" (*id.* at 67), a claim he does not repeat on appeal.

that his sighting of the firearm's "top" was "why he would have radioed for the additional officers" (6/9/23:86). Accordingly, although the court recognized it wasn't "clear from the photographs whether or not that you could see the top of the firearm" (id. (emphasis added)), Officer Whitehair's radio call and the officers' subsequent stakeout of the SUV corroborated his sighting. Moreover, Officer Capasso explained that he had recently spoken to Officer Whitehair – i.e., a person with "personal knowledge" of what he had seen – and it was thus clear that Capasso's "account" did not "involve[] multiple levels of hearsay." In re K.H., 14 A.3d 1087, 1092 (D.C. 2011). Further, Officer Capasso could – and did – provide a "reasonably accurate account" of what Officer Whitehair had told him, one that was anything but "vague and unenlightening." Id. Certainly, the court did not plainly err in crediting or relying on Officer Capasso's description of Officer Whitehair's out-of-court statement, which is the applicable standard of review given Johnson's failure to raise his present hearsay objection in the trial court.9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Though Johnson now asserts (at 21-23) "Officer Capasso's hearsay testimony" about "Officer Whitehair's unsworn claim" was "insufficiently reliable to support the trial court's finding," he didn't make this claim below (see 6/9/23:6, 14 (no objections to Capasso's testimony relating (continued . . . )

In sum, ample evidence supported the trial court's finding that "it was obvious to just a passerby of this car that there was a firearm" in the driver's-seat map pocket (6/9/23:86). Most prominently, as the trial court found ("you can see from the pictures"), Exhibits 2A and 2B reveal the gun's imprint (*id.*). Further, Officer Capasso, whom the court properly credited, confirmed that he could "see the magazine imprinted on the

Finally, to the extent that Johnson is arguing instead that the trial court simply erred in attributing significant *weight* to Officer Whitehead's hearsay report, "unless the evidence is wholly lacking in probative value, its weakness and reliability are factors to be considered by the fact finder in determining the weight to be accorded the testimony." *See United States v. Brannon*, 404 A.2d 926, 930 (D.C. 1979). In short, the trial judge, "as fact finder, ha[d] the right to make credibility determinations, weigh the evidence, and draw reasonable inferences of fact." *Joiner-Die v. United States*, 899 A.2d 762, 764 (D.C. 2006) (en banc).

hearsay)). Instead, Johnson argued only that the court couldn't "credit" Officer Capasso's testimony "about what Officer Whitehead said given that there's . . . nothing on this record" but a "conclusory" description of "Officer Whitehair's training" (id. at 81 (emphasis added)). Because Johnson "did not raise the hearsay objection at the suppression hearing," this Court's review is thus restricted to "plain error." Fleming v. United States, 923 A.2d 830, 835 (D.C. 2007). And Johnson has not shown such plain error. As explained in the text, this case is nothing like In re K.H., Johnson's primary authority (at 21-22). In contrast to In re K.H., Officer Capasso explained that he had recently spoken to Officer Whitehair, viz., the person with first-hand knowledge of the plain-view sighting. Officer Capasso thus could provide a specific description of Officer Whitehair's sighting, viz., while looking through the SUV's window, Whitehair saw the gun's sights and grip via the slit at the top of the map pocket.

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